
 
 
 
October 16, 2008 
 
 
 
Ontario Energy Board 
2300 Yonge Street, Suite 2700 
Toronto, Ontario 
M4P 1E4 
 
Attention:   Ms. Kirsten Walli, Board Secretary 
 
Dear Ms. Walli: 
 
Re: EB-2008-0273 
 
The Board held an Issues Day for proceeding EB-2008-0273 on Wednesday October 15, 
2008.   
 
At Issues Day, Union agreed to provide NRG’s financial statements for the fiscal year ending 
September 30, 2007.  NRG’s 2007 financial statements are included as Attachment 1. 
 
In addition, Union has provided NRG’s financial statements for the fiscal year ending 
September 30, 2005 (Attachment 2) and a copy of the Bundled t-contract referenced in 
Union’s prefiled evidence dated October 9, 2008 (Attachment 3). 
 
The Board will convene a hearing in this proceeding on October 20 and October 21.  Union 
will put forward two witnesses.  The CV’s for Patricia Elliott, Controller and David 
MacEacheron, Strategic Manager, Industrial Markets are included as Attachment 4. 
 
If you have any questions, please contact me at 519-436-5275 or mkitchen@uniongas.com.  
 
Yours truly,  
 
[original signed by] 
 
Mark Kitchen 
 
CC:     Michael Penny, Torys 
 Mark Bristoll, NRG 
            Richard King, Ogilvy Renault 
            Heather Adams, Town of Aylmer 
 Philip Tunley, Stockwoods LLP 
            Jim Grey, IGPC 
 Dennis M. O’Leary, Aird Berlis 
 Scott Stoll, Aird Berlis 















































NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2005 



NEAL, PALLETT & TOWNSEND 
; 

NPT 
(:I IARTERFD ACCOUV!i\NTS 

Ii 3 3 Colborne Street 

Su;re 300 

Landon, Onrarío 
N6f12V3 

'Ielephone: ('i I 91 4,1}.5\H 
E,x: ('>1')) ,Ul(,5''f4 
\1/cbsíte: 

www.nprca.com 

Parmer.'}: 

Glom J. H.1nJuun C ;'." 
1),1";< J. Neel C,,\,' 
[),H'íd J. bile/! CA, 

. 

Jnhn D.R. Pruder C.!\.~ l'v1.B.:\. 
+ 

Joruthan rc TU\\'fl'-,f'fld C.1\.* 
L.j, S,ll1<Ì)' \X'ehtcln CA' 

'Pr()jAu,JJwí (~irp(lrdIÙm 

AUDITORS' REPORT 

To the Board of Directors 

Natural Resource Gas Limited 

We have audited the balance sheet of Natural Resource Gas Limited as at 
September 30, 2005 and the statements of income, defícit, and cash flows for (he year then ended. These financial statements have been prepared, with the unanÍmous consent 
of the company's shareholders, in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles using differential reporting options available to non-publicly 
accountable enterprises, as described in the summary of significant accounting policies 
attached to the financial statements. These financial statements are the responsibility of the company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial statements based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting 
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall financial statement presentation. 

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the company as at September 30, 2005 and the results of its 
operations and changes in its financial position for the year then ended in accordance 
with the basis of accounting disclosed in the summary of significant accounting policies, 

~/~><-t7~ London, Canada 
November 24, 2005 CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS 

- 1 - 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Balance Shcet 

As at September 30 

2005 2004 

Assets 

Current assets: 

Cash $ 45,526 $ 
Accounts receivable (note 5) 1,455,365 ] ,289,437 
Inventory 121,524 130,262 
Prepaid expenses 7,207 23,919 
Income taxes recoverable 58,978 
Deferred charges 149 32,795 

1,629,771 1,535,39] 

Property, plant, and equipment (note 1) 9,428,346 9,27],362 

Other assets: 

Franchises and consents (note 2) 79,087 86,358 
Deferred financing costs (note 3) 17,234 23,430 

96,321 109,788 

$ 11,154,438 $ 10,916,541 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Balance Sheet 

As at September 30 

2005 2004 

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity 

Current liabilities: 

Bank indebtedness 

Demand debenture payable (note 4) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 5) 
Income taxes payable 

Deferred revenue 

Customer deposits 

Current portion of long-term debt (note 6) 

Long-term debt (note 6) 

$ - $ 

118,000 
1,864,792 

58,560 
146,729 
105,045 
387,780 

2,680,906 

2,335,629 

49,178 
118,007 

1,720,803 

118,938 

102,214 
345,042 

2,454,182 

2,723,409 

Shareholders' equity: 

Share capital (note 7) 
Retractable shares (redemption value $15,500,010) 
Participating shares 

Deficit 

15,500,010 

10 
(9,362,117) 

6,137,903 

15,500,010 
10 

(9,761,070) 

5,738,950 
Contingent liabilities (note 6) 

$ 11,154,438 $ 10,916,541 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements, 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIl\UTED 

Statement of Deficit 

Year ended September 30 

Balance, beginning of year 

Net income for the year 

Balance, end of year 

2005 2004 

$ (9,761,070) $ (10,177,634) 

398,953 416,564 

$ (9,362,117) $ (9,761,070) 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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NA TURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Statement of Income 

Year ended September 30 

2005 2004 

Gas commodity revenue $ 7,342,777- $ 5,891,799 
Gas commodity cost 7,132,905 5,964,681 

Gross margin on commodity 209,872 (72,882) 

Distribution revenue 3,704,162- 3,588,796 
Distribution costs 544,676 459,931 

Gross margin on distribution 3,159,486 3,128,865 

Other sales 1,208,357~ 1,262,628 
Other costs 779,635 817,489 

Gross margin on other sales 428,722 445,139 

Other revenue 79,137 ... 65,128 

Total gross margin 
3,877,217 3,566,250 

Expenses 
3,204,264 2,907,186 

Income before provision for income taxes 672,953 - 659,064 

Provision for income taxes 274,000 242,500 
Net income for the year $ 398,953 $ 416,564 

Included in expenses are the following: 
Amortization of deferred financing costs $ 6,196\ $ 6,196 
Amortization of franchises and consents $ 7,270 ) $ 6,542 
Amortization $ 657,232/ $ 541,865 
Interest on long-term debt $ 320,867\ $ 360,588 
rnterest on short-term debt $ I 

4,164j $ 8,941 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Statement of Cash Flows 

Year ended September 30 

2005 2004 

Cash flows from operating activities: 
Net Încome for the year $ 398,953 $ 416,564 

Items not affecting working capital: 

Amortization 670,698 554,603 Changes in non-cash working capital: 
Accounts receivable (165,929) (423,522) 
Inventory 8,738 (34,389) Prepaid expenses 16,712 11,676 
Income taxes recoverable (note 11) 58,978 73,863 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 143,989 (396,311) 
Income taxes payable (note 11) 58,560 
Deferred revenue 27,791 4,379 
Deferred charges 

32,646 (14,525) 
Customer deposits 

_2~3t 11,774 

(1,253,967 , 204,112 
, 

"',----- Cash flows from investing activities: 
Additions to property, plant, and equipment (814,214) (516,781) 

Cash flows from financing activities: 
Repayments of long-term debt (345,042) (307,015) 
Advances from (repayments of) demand 

debenture payable (7) 7 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 
during the year 94,704 (619,677) Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year (49,178) 570,499 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 45,526 $ (49,178) 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

September 30, 2005 

Summary of significant accounting policies: 

The company, with the unanimous consent of its shareholders, has elected to 
prepare its financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP), using differential reporting options available to non- publicly accountable enterprises as described below: 

(a) Share capital: 

The company has elected to apply the differential reporting measurcment option 
allowed for the accounting for retractable shares and, therefore has presented as equity instead of disclosing as a liability, the issued and outstanding Class A and Class C shares of the company. 

Regulation: 

The utility operations of the company is a rate regulated, natural gas distribution utility and operates within a limited area of Southwestern Ontario under franchise agreements that are approved by the Ontario Energy Board (OEB). 

The utility operations are subject to regulations under The Ontario Energy Board Act and The Energy Act (Ontario). Revenue rate schedules arc approved 
periodically by the OEB and are designed to permit a fair and reasonable return to the Company on the utility investment. Realization of the allowed rate of 
return is subject to actual operating conditions experienced during the year. 

The Company follows Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. Such accounting principles may differ for regulated entities from those otherwise expected in non-regulated entities. These differences occur when the regulatory 
agencies render their decisions on the Companys rate applications and generally involve the timing of revenue and expense recognition to ensure that the 
Company has achieved a proper matching of revenues and expenses, and as a 
result the Company records assets and liabilities that would not have been 
recorded under GAAP for non-regula.ted entities. 

In addition to defining certain accounting requirements, the regulatory agencies 
have jurisdiction over a number of other matters, which include the rates to be charged for the distribution of gas and approval and recovery of costs for major 
construction and operations. 
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NA TURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30, 2005 

Inventory: 

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value, with cost bcing 
determined on a first-in, first-out basis. Net realizable value is defined as 
replacement cost. 

Deferred charges: 

Certain costs, required or pemlitted by the OEB, have been deterred for recovery 
from future revenues. Certain regulatory deferrals are subject to future decisions by the OEB, who will determine the financial reporting to be provided for these 
deferred accounts. 

Property, plant, and equipment: 

Property, plant and equipment is recorded at cost, including associated labour 
and overhead costs. Expenditures which substantially increase the lIsefullife of existing pipeline installations and additions to the pipeline are capitalized. Such 
expenditures include material, labour and overhead. Maintenance and repairs 
which do not extend the useful life of pipeline installations are charged to 
mcome. 

Pursuant to the regulations of the OEB on the disposal of property, plant, and equipment, excluding major disposals, the company transfers the original cost of the retired assets, plus any related removal costs and net of any proceeds on disposition, to accumulated amortization. Proceeds from disposition are credited 
to accumulated amortization. This effectively credits gains, or charges losses on disposition to accumulated amortization. For major disposals, gains or losses 
are included in current earnings. 

The company has reviewed its long-Jived assets and dctelmined there exists no 
asset retirement obligation as of September 30, 2005. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30, 2005 

Amortization: 

Pursuant to the periodic review and approval by the OEB of amortization rates, 
amortization is calculated using the straight-line method on the total gross cost 
of each asset category at the end of the year, rather than on an asset specific 
basis, at the foHowing annual rates for the property, plant and equipment categories listed below: 

Automotive equipment 
Buildings 

Computer equipment 

Computer software 
Furniture and fixtures 
Machinery and equipment 

Meters and regulators 
Pipeline installations 

17 % 

2 % 

33 % 

20 % 

7% 
6 % to 9 % 
3 % to 4% 
3 % to 13 % 

Amortization of deferred finance costs (related to the issue of long-term debt) is 
calculated at the annual rate of 7% using the straight-line method over the life of the related debt issuance. 

Amortization of franchises and consents is calculated using the straight-line 
method over the term of the applicable franchise and consent. 

Pursuant to the approval of the OEB, the company has changed its amortization 
rates for the various categories of property, plant and equipment as well as for 
franchises and consents in the current year. This change in estimate has been 
applied on a prospective basis. 

Income taxes: 

The company's rate and revenues, established for regulatory purposes, allow for 
the recovery of income taxes on a formula basis which differs from the amount 
as determined under the tax allocation basis of accounting. Accordingly, the 
company accounts for income taxes using the taxes payable basis. This basis 
does not provide for future income taxes which may be payable in future years as 
a result of the difference between current financial reporting and reporting jor 
income tax purposes. This method is fol1owed for accounting purposes as there 
is a reasonable expectation that all such taxes will ultimately be recovered 
through rates when they become payable. Future income taxes not provided in 
these financial statements would amount to a recovery of $1 02,000 for the year 
ended September 30, 2005 (2004 - $20,000) and an accumulated future liability 
of$424,000 at September 30,2005 (2004 ~ $526,000). 
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NA TURAL RESOURCE GAS LIl\'IITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30, 2005 

Revenue recognition: 

The Company recognizes revenues when gas has been delivered or services have 
been performed. Gas distribution revenues are recorded on the basis of regular 
meter readings and estimates of customer usage since the last meter reading to 
the end of the reporting period. 

A significant portion of the Company's operations are subject to regulation and 
accordingly there are circumstances where the revenues recognized do not match 
the amounts biJIed. Revenue is recognized in a manner consistent with the 
underlying rate setting mechanism as mandated by the OEB. This may give rise 
to regulatory deferral accounts on the balance sheet pending disposition by a 

decision of the OEB. 

Gas commodity costs: 

Gas commodity costs are recorded using prices approved by the OEB in the 
determination of customers sales rates. Differences between the OEB approved 
reference prices and those costs actually incurred are deferred in accounts 
receivable for future disposition subject to the approval of the OEB, usually 
within a maximum timeframe of the next fiscal year. In a non-regulated 
environment periodic variances between gas commodity sales rates and costs. 
would be reported through the income statement annually without the use of 
deferral accounts. 

Use of estimates: 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles requires management to makc estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the 
reported period. These estimates are reviewed periodically ,md, as adjustments 
become necessary, they are reported in earnings in the period in which they 
become known. 

- 10- 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30, 2005 

1. Property, plant, and equipment: 

2005 2004 

Accumulated Net Book Net Book 
Cost Amortization Value Value 

Land $ 71,700 $ 
- $ 71,700 $ 71,700 Buildings 682,331 76,694 605,637 620,785 

Furniture and 

fixtures 53,189 24,469 28,720 31,286 
Machinery and 

equipment 2,219,701 943,219 1,276,482 1,214,999 
Computer 

equipment 106,064 96,219 9,845 
Computer software 106,519 90,629 15,890 
Automotive 

equipment 455,714 79,522 376,192 359,537 
Meters and 

regulators 2,801,467 1,264,274 1,537,193 1,538,480 
Pipeline 

installations 8,801,038 3,294,351 5,506,687 5,434,575 

$ 15,297,723 $ 5,869,377 $ 9,428,346 $ 9,271,362 

2. Franchises and consents: 

2005 2004 

Franchises and consents $ 151,094 $ 151,094 
Less: accumulated amortization 72,007 G4,736 

$ 79,087 $ 86,358 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30, 2005 

3. Deferred finance costs: 

2005 2004 

Deferred finance costs $ 92,945 $ 92,945 
Less: accumulated amortization 75,7] ] 69,515 

$ 17,234 $ 23,430 

4. Demand debenture payable: 

2005 2004 

Demand debenture payable, with interest 
payable monthly at the floating 
ScotiaBank pnme lending rate for 
Canadian dollar demand commercial 
loans in Canada plus 1.5% $ 118,000 $ 118,007 

The debenture is secured by a general security agreement over the accounts, monies 
and inventory ofthe company. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30, 2005 

S. Related party transactions: 

During the year, rent of $9,600 (2004 - $9,600) and management fccs of $87,000 (2004 - $85,000) were paid to an affiliated company. 

During the year, the company purchased gas in the amount of $2,028,997 (2004 _ 

$1,296,886) from an affiliated company. 

During the year, maintenance charges of $41 ,280 (2004 - $41,280) were charged to 
an affiliated company. 

During the year, the company provided installation services and product to an 
affiliated company in the amount of$15,015 (2004 - $208,171). 

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities are amounts payable to 
affIliated companies of $462,345 as at September 30,2005 (2004 - $419,464). 

Included in accounts receivable are amounts receivable from affiliated companies 
of$16,642 as at September 30, 2005 (2004 -$49,570). 

Affiliated companies are companies controlled, directly or indirectly, by trusts, 
where the beneficiaries of the trusts are common to both trusts. 

These transactions are in the normal course of business, and are measured at the 
exchange amount. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30, 2005 

6. Long-term debt: 

2005 2004 

Debenture payable, 1 1.8%, repayable in 
blended monthly instalments of $44,525 
principal and interest, due July 3 1,2009 

Debenture payable, 11.03%, repayable in 
blended monthly instalments of $3,384, 
principal and interest, due September 30, 
2010 

$ 1,615,977 $ 1,938,607 

156,432 178,844 

Debenture payable, 9.57% (interest rate 
adjusted annually based upon the allowed 
rate of return as set by the Ontario Energy 
Board. Minimum rate of 9.25%), 
repayable in monthly interest only 
instalments, due July 31, 2009 951,000 

2,723,409 
387,780 

2,335,629 $ 

951,000 

3,068,451 
345,042 

2,723,409 

Less: current portion 

$ 

The aggregate amount of principal payments required in each of the next 5 years to 
meet retirement provisions is as follows: 

2006 $ 387,780 
2007 435,815 
2008 489,803 
2009 1,371,674 
2010 38,337 

$ 2,723,409 

- 14- 



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LI1\tIITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements ~ continued 

September 30, 2005 

6. Long-term debt - continued: 

The following has been pledged as security for the mortgage payable: 

a) fixed and floating charge over all ofthe assets of the company; b) general security agreement; 
c) general assignment of accounts receivable; and, 
d) assignment of all risk insurance over the assets of the company. 

In addition, a limited recourse guarantee and postponement of claim has been provided. 

The debentures payable are secured by general security agreements w'hich are subordinate to the security agreement registered for mortgage payable. 

The company was in breach of three covenants during the year with respect to the 
mortgage payable. These were management fees of $12,000 in excess of the 
authorized amount, the company made $304,339 of capital expenditures in excess of the $550,000 annual limit, and the company's Total Debt Service Coverage Ratio 
was less than the required ratio. 

The company has had similar experience in the prior years and also has not been in 
compliance with a few other covenants since fiscal 1995. The company did obtain 
a waiver from the lender subsequent to the issuance of the financial statements for the year ended September 30, 1998 with respect to the covenants violated in that 
year, but has been unable to obtain a waiver for any subsequent years including the 
current year. The company has continued to make all required payments under tlus 
loan in accordance with the tenns of the loan and the conditions remain unchanged 
lTom those whieh existed in the prior year. 

As in prior years, the company does not expect the loan agreement to be tenninated 
or penalties imposed with respect to this event and as such the company has not 
accrued any penalty in these financial statements. The calculation of the amount of 
any penalty is ambiguous under the tenns of the lending agreement but could be interpreted as an amount up to $166,000. Accordingly, the company has continued 
to treat this loan as a long-tenn liability. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30, 2005 

7. Share capital: 

2005 2004 

Authorized: 

Unlimited Class A shares, non-voting, 
redeemable and retractable with non- 
cumulative dividends 

Unlimited Class B shares, participating, non- 
voting, with non-cumulative dividends 
ranking pari passu with common shares 
on dissolution 

Unlimited Class C shares non-voting, with 
preferential 7% non-cumulative 
dividends redeemable and retractable at 
$100 per share 

Unlimited Class Z shares voting, 
redeemable and retractable at $1 per 
share, with no dividend entitlement 

Unlimited number of common shares 

Issued and outstanding: 

Retractable shares: 

50,000 Class A shares $ 2,038,582 $ 2,038,582 
134,614.18 Class C shares 13,461,418 13,461,418 
10 Class Z shares 10 10 

$ 15,500,010 $ 15,500,010 

Participating shares: 
10 Class B shares $ 10 $ 10 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIl\tIITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30, 2005 

8. Gas imbalances: 

The Company, in the normal course of its operations expericnces imbalances in the 
quantity of gas purchased and the quantities of gas sold and provides the gas balancing services to customers. The company records the net liability (or nct asset) associated with gas imbalance volumes. 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities include $84,351 (2004 - $305,242) related 
to gas imbalances. Natural gas volumcs owed from the Company are valued at the 
natural gas reference price as approved by the DEB as of the balance sheet dates. 

9. Regulatory matters: 

The Company has rates that are approved by the DEB. The fiscal year 2005 was a 
one year Cost of Service Rate filing. The company received the OEB decision dated December 20, 2004 and the rate order was dated December 31, 2004. The 
company did not make a submission for the fiscal year 2006 which left rates unchanged from 2005. The company is currently working on the fiscal 2007 
submission to the OEB. 

Rates for the sale of gas commodity are adjusted quarterly to reflect updated 
commodity price forecasts. The difference between the approved <md the actual 
cost of gas incurred in the current period is deferred for fùture recovery subject to approval by the OEB. These differences are directly flowed through to customers and, therefore, no rate of return is earned on the deferred balances. The OEB's approval for recovery of these gas purchase costs primarily considers the prudence of costs incurred. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30, 2005 

10. Financial instruments: 

The carrying values of the company's financial current assets and liabilities, 
including cash, accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, deferred charges, demand 
debenture payable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, deferred revenue and 
customer deposits approximate their values due to their short-term maturity. 

The fair value of long-term debt is estimated using a discounted cash flow calculation that uses market interest rates currently charged for similar debt 
instruments at September 30, 2005 to expected maturity dates. 

Based upon the above calculation the carrying value of $ 2,723,409 of long-term debt has a fair value of $ 3,252,817. 

Natural gas prices: 

The Company has entered into several material contracts for the supply of natural 
gas. The Company employs established policies and procedures in order to manage the risk associated with the market fluctuations of natural gas prices. The 
Company, through the rate regulations imposed by the OEB, is effectively allowed 
to fully recover its costs, reasonably incurred, and as such the ratepayers, and not the Company, are ultimately exposed to the risk of these market fluctuations. 

Credit risk: 

Credit risk arises from the potential that a trade customer wíII fail to pay its 
account. The company is exposed to credit risk from its customers. However, the 
company has a large number of diverse customers, which minimizes concentration of credit risk. Included in accounts receivable is an allowance for doubtful 
accounts of $38,022 (2004 - $43,668) 

II. Additional cash flow statement information: 

2005 2004 

Interest paid 

Tncome taxes paid 
$ 
$ 

325,099 $ 

226,118 $ 
400,062 
190,478 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 
Notes to the Financial Statements - continued 

September 30, 2005 

12. Comparative balances: 

Certain of the comparative balances have been reclassified to confonn to the presentation adopted for the current year. 
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ADDITIONAL COMMENTS OF AUDITORS 

The accompanying schedule of expenses is presented as supplementary information only. In this respect, it does not form part of the financial statements of Natural 
Resource Gas Limited for the year ended September 30, 2005 and is hence excluded from the opinion expressed in our report dated November 24, 2005 to the board of directors on such financial statements. The information in this schedule has been subject to audit procedures only to the extent necessary to express an opinion on the 
financial statements of the company and, in our opinion, is fairly presented in all respects material to those financial statements. 

~/~)4~~ London, Canada 
November 24, 2005 CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED 

Unaudited Schedule of Expenses 

Year ended September 30 

Advertising 

Automotive and maintenance 
Bad debts 

Bank charges and other interest 
Capital tax 
Consulting fees 
Dues and fees 

Employee benefits 
Insurance 
Interest on long-term debt 
Legal and audit 
Management fees - affiHated company 
Miscellaneous 
Office 
Ontario Energy Board hearings 

Property taxes 
Rent - affiliated company 
Salaries and wages 
Telephone 

Travel and promotion 
Utilities 

Amortization - Automotive equipment 
Buildings 
Computer equipment 
Computer software 
Deferred finance costs 
Franchises and consents 

Furniture and Fixtures 
Machinery and equipment 
Meters and regulators 
Pipeline installations 

Equipment expenses capitalized to pipeline 
installations 

Interest expense (income) 
Amortization capitalized to pipeline installations 

2005 2004 

$ 29,888 $ 41,450 
233,851 217,669 

8,000 17,000 
26,854 12,524 
24,524 25,615 
35,800 30,000 
22,543 17,351 

129,604 105,374 
263,750 245,436 
320,867 360,588 
105,327 87,751 
87,000 85,000 
37,538 32,429 
82,181 66,372 

150,256 114,372 
285,288 274,237 

9,600 9,600 
773,372 683,246 
39,366 41,000 

6,787 3,212 
14,263 11,597 
75,649 32,137 
15,148 30,773 
7,716 3,655 
2,575 

6,196 6,196 
7,270 6,542 
3,590 2,710 

37,006 35,414 
101,970 100,604 
290,692 236,868 

3,234,471 2,956,722 

(31,690) (25,657) 
12,521 (14,638) 

(11,038) (9,241 ) 

$ 3,204,264 $ 2,907,186 
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This Southern Bl)NDt+:p T (ìAS (,ONTRi\CT ("('untracf'), made as uf the 
I st day' of ()dober, 2004. 

J 

BET\VFLN: 

L;\fION GAS LIMITED 
hereinatter called "('nion" 

- and - 

NATl'I~AL I~ESOl'IU'E (;.\S LlMITE[) 
hereinafter calleJ "( 'ustomer" 

\VHEREAS the intent of this Contract is for (Inion to provide Services, on a bundleJ 
basis, whereby (Jnion receives daily quantities of Gas from Customer; and either stores or delivers 
(ìas to Customer under (Ìas Distribution Contracts according to their respective Rate Schedule; 

AND WHEREAS in cases where the Agent is not the End (:ser, Agent has represented 
and warranteJ that it has the authority and right to act as Agent tor the Customers listed in Schedule 3. 

IN CONSIDERATION of the mutual covenants, the parties agree as t()lIows: 

A TT ACHMENTS 
The t()lIowing are hereby incorporated in and t()rm part of this Contract: 

a) Contract Parameters and Notice Lists in Schedule I; and 
b) Bundled T Terms and ConJitions contained in ScheJule 2; and 
e) End (Ise List in Schedule 3; and 
d) Union's General Terms and Conditions. 

2 PRELIMINARY AND CONTINl1IN(; CONDITIONS 
This Contract and the rights, and ohligations of the parties hereunder shall he conditional upon 
the fulfillment and maintenance in good stanJing of the t(lllowing conditions: 

a) If required under the (ìeneral Terms and Conditions tinancial assurmH.:es shall he supplieJ and 
maintained with (;nion; and 

h) Customer and (fnion shall have c\cculcd. dclivcrcd and maintainl'd in good standing the (hIS 
Distribution Contrad( s); and 

c) Ifrequin:J, .'\gent shall have a valid (ìas :\farkder's I icense as detined hy the OFB Act and 
Regulations. 

rhe ahove conditions must be initially satistied hy Customer or it's .\gent 25 days prior to the 
Day of hrst Receipt. 
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3 CONTRACT TER'\-! 
rhis Contrad shall he I.:I1L'dive from the dak hl.:reof Ilmwver, th..: Sen i<.:l.:, obligations, terms and eonditions hereunder, shall comml.:n<.:e on the Day of r:irst Receipt. Subject to the provisions 

hl.:rl.:o[ this Contract shall continue in full ttll'Ce and dfect tl}r ea<.:h Contract Year until \Jotice to 
terminate is provitkd by I.:ither [:nion or Customer. Such \Joti<.:e must he ddivl.:red at kast thrl.:e (ì) months prior to the I.:nd of a Contract Y I.:ar. 

.. SERVICES PRO\'If)EI> 
['nion agrel.:s to provide Service under thl.: terms and conditions as sd out in this ('ontract and the 
reterencl.:d attadll11ents. SU~Ìéd to .\uthori/ation !\'otil.:e heing granted by [ inion, Service under this C(}ntrad shall he Firm tl}r the quantities and RecéÎpt Points as spl.:cilìed in Schedule I. 

5 R.\ TES FOR SERVICE 

('ustomer agrees to take and pay tllr Services herein according to the terms and <.:onditions of the tt}lIowing: 

a) The Rate Schedules R-I as it may be amendd Irom time to time hy the Ontario Energy 
Board; and 

b) this Contract and the attachments hereto. 

6 NOTICES 
Notices shall be delivered pursuant to the Notice provision of the General Terms and Conditions and delivered to the addresses as referenced on Schedule I. 

7 AGENCY 

Ifan Agent on behalfofthe Customer(s) executes this Contract then, if requested by {fnion, the 
Agent shall at any time provide a copy of such authorization to [fnion. 

If more than one Customer executes this Contract, they shall in writing appoint an Agent a cnpy of which shall be provided to [Inion. 

As long as the agency continues, the Agent shall be the only person to del i vcr or recl.:i ve all 
Notices, invoices, and payments. Any Notice, invoice, or paYlllt.'nt made to ( fnion hj' the Agent will be deemed to he receÎn:d Ii'om all Customers. Any Notice, invoice, or paYIl1t..'nt madt..' hy 
Union to the Agent will be deemed to be received hj all ('ustomers. (;nion shall not he 
responsible to communicate to the other Customers or hld ( ISl.:rs any such :'\1oticL" invoice, or payment from or to such .\gent. 

8 CONTRACT Sl!fTESSION 
This Contrad rt..'places all previous Bundled 1 Contrads, suhje<.:l to sdt/t..'ment n f any Surv i v i Ilg ()hl igations. 
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The undersigned execute this Contract as of the above date. 

l 

(':-.lION GAS LE\fITFD 
// 

, / ~/ , 

,', I' /.' 
, 

, 

._--l-~_._- - ~.ýA..(' ~- rhO I hall: th.: .llIthpflt} hI hind Ih.: ( ,'rpprali"Il, ''I \dh'~r.: ( ..., Ii ,ipplic.Jhlc 

Wayne, \ndrews 

ClfSH)~fER 

: I 
! "..-t I (I , ,J...; 

í~ ---=- 

I ~ 

,1../,+-rI.{r1,lC l'y<,VU",''.' ..,:ò,<, br" 
, ì -j!' 

----f-.L'.c:...- .:.L.:.~c.. 
I h.Jv,: tht: .JlIlIll'rity to hilld the (prporation, or\dl1.:r.: (' ..., if applkabk 

l'kas.: prillt l1am.: 
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SCHEIH'LE "I" 
l ontrad Parameters and !\otice Lists 

Southern Bundled T 

I. Dates 

"Day of First Receipt" means the I st day of (ktoher. ,2()()4. 

The tirst Contract Year shall expire at the end of Septemher. .2005. 

2. Daily Contract Quantit), (DCQ) 
Upstream Point(s) of Receipt 

Location 

Western 761 

Western (Exdwnge) 0 

Ontario Point(s) of Receipt 

uDlIgllreu Ul 'J uDligatea IJl 'J OlJlJgateu Ul'(} Location GJ per Day Location G.J per Day Location GJ per Day Parkway 1.189 Dawn- Vector 0 Ojihway 0 
Parkway (Trunkline) 0 Dawn-Vector (A/V) 0 St. Clair 0 
Parkway (PEPL) 0 Dawn-Vector (Ve<:!or) 0 Bluewater () 

Dawn 0 

Obligated DCQ does not include tltel. 

On days when requested by Customer and Authorization Notice is given hy (Inion. the ahove quantity 
parameters. Upstream Point(s) of Receipt. and Ontario Point(s) of Receipt shall be deemed to be 
amended in accordance with such Authorization Notice. 

3. Maximum BGA Balances 

All units retèrenced in the tahle below are GJ's. 

1il'l,r'. !<It 
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... Chcckpoint Halan ~ I)arameters 

For the period prior to Pebruary 2005, the checkpoint parameters as noted helm\, ,lrL' till' ('lIstomer's 
intilrnlation purposes only. 0;either Customer nor l'nion shall be accountable till' any contractual 
pertlmmlllce related to these checkpoints until February .2005. 

This Contract opcrates on the has is of: 

D Customer f)etermined Halandn~ Option 

Or 0 [Inion Determined nalandn~ Option 

5. Contact List for Notices 

Notices for Nomination Matters 

President & (ìeneral Manager 
"'fail: 39 Beel:h Street E., P.O. Box 307, Aylmer, ON N5H ~S 1 

Courier: 39 Beed] Street E., Aylmer, ON N5H ~S I 

Phone: (519) 773-5321 Ext.205 

FAX: (519)773-5335 

(Illion (ìas Limited 

Manager, Oas\.1anagemellt Set'\> il:es 

50 Keil Drive N, Chatham, ON NìM 5M I 

Phone: (519)416-4545 
I'AX: (519) .U6-46ì5 

Notices for Billing Matters 

President & Oeneral Manager 

Mail: 39 Beech Street E., P,O, Box 30ì, Aylmer, ON N5H ~Sl 

Courier: 39 Beech Street E., Aylmer, ON N5H 2S1 

Phone: (519) 773-5321 bt.205 
FAX: (519)773-5335 

Union Oas I.imited 

Manager. Revenue C) de Sen kes 

50 Keil Drive N, Chatham, ON NìM 5M I 

Phone: (519)152-3100 

FAX: (519) .n6-53~O 

Notices for All Other Matters 

President & (ìeneral Manager 

Mail: 39 Beech Street E., PO. Boxl0ì. .\ylmer, ON N5H ~SJ 

Courier: ì9 Reed] Street E" ,\ylmer. ON N5H ~SJ 

Phone: (5 19) 77J-53~ 1 1:\t.205 

FAX: (519) 771-'335 

Union (ìas Limited 

Manager. ('llstomer Support 

50 Keil Dri\>e \I, Chatham. ON \lìM 5M 1 

Phone: (~19) 15~-1100 

1\ X: ('i 19) .n6-.~64'i 

; l' if H) if t ! '-8 _~ 
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SCHEDULE "2" 
Southern Bundled T Terms And Conditions 

VPSTREAM TR;\NSPORTATION COSTS 

Where Union is receiving Gas from Customer at a Point of Receipt upstream of Union'5 system. 
Customer shall be responsible to Union for all direct and indirect upstream transportation costs 
including Compressor Fuel from the Point of Receipt to Union's system, \vhether Gas is received 
by Union or not, tor any reason including Force Majeure. Where actual quantities and costs are 
not available by the date when Union performs its billing, Union's reasonable estimate will be 
used and the appropriate reconciliation will be done in the following Month. 

2 OBLIGATIONS TO DELIVER AND RECEIVE 

Subject to the provisions of this Contract, Union agrees to receive the Obligated DCQ 
parameters in Schedule I each Day. Customer accepts the obligation to deliver the Obligated 
DCQ parameters in Schedule I to Union on a Firm basis. On days when an Authorization Notice 
is given, the DCQ parameters are as defined in the Authorization Notice. 

For all Gas to be received by Union at the Upstream Point of Receipt, Customer shall in addition 
to the DCQ, supply on each Day sufficient Compressor Fuel as determined by the Transporter. 

3 BANKED GAS ACCOUNT 

The Banked Gas Account ("BGA") will be used to accumulate the daily differences between the 
total quantities of Gas received by Union (excluding fuel) from the Customer, and the total 
quantities of Gas distributed by Union to the End Use locations listed in Schedule 3, plus any BOA transactions permitted by Authorization Notice. Where the cumulative quantities received 
by Union exceed the cumulative quantities distributed by Union, the resulting BOA balance shall 
be positive. Where the cumulative quantities distributed by Union exceed the cumulative quantities' received by Union, the resulting BOA balance shall be negative. 

Customer shall plan and operate in a manner that will achieve a BOA balance of zero at the end 
of each Contract Year. In addition. Customer is expected to take balancing actions early in the 
summer to ensure that the BGA nalance does not exceed the Fall Checkpoint Quantity as of the 
Fall Checkpoint Date. Customer is also expected to take balancing actions early in the winter to 
ensure that the BGA balance is not less than the Winter Checkpoint Quantity as of the \Vinter 
Checkpoint Date. The checkpoint quantities and dates are identified in Section 4 of Schedule I. 

Customer's ability to manage the BGA balance through changes in its supply arrangements shall 
require authorization from Union. Customer's request for a change does not require or obligate 
Union to accept a request which ljnion. acting reasonably, determines it cannot accommodate. If 
Lnion cannot accommodate such request, Customer shall not be relieved from its obligations tor 
the Fall Checkpoint Date or the Winter Checkpoint Date, or any B(JA Balancing Period Date. 
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Provided this Contract is in place for a subsequent Contract Year, that portion, if any, of the 
BGA balance not exceeding the Maximum Positive Variance or the Maximum Negative 
Variance identified in Schedule I shall be carried forward into the BGA of the subsequent 
Contract Year. 

3.0] Service under the Lnion Determined Balancing Option 

Where Schedule I identifies the balancing option as "Union Determined Balancing Option", 
Section 3.01 of this Schedule.2 shall apply to the exclusion of Section 3.02. 

Pnder the Union Determined Balancing Option, Union will determine and advise Customer of the incremental quantity of Gas that must be supplied by Customer for the BGA balance to be 
greater than or equal to the Winter Checkpoint Quantity as of the Winter Checkpoint Date, and 
the quantity of Gas that must be disposed of for the BGA balance to be less than or equal to the 
Fall Checkpoint Quantity as of the FaIl Checkpoint Date. Customer is obligated to supply and to 
dispose of the quantities of Gas as determined by Union. 

Winter Check Point 

PeriodicaIly during the winter, Union will estimate what the BGA balance will be as of the 
Winter Checkpoint Date ("Winter BGA Balance") using recent third party weather forecasts and 
Customer's monthly consumption forecast. The BGA estimate will include estimated 
consumption, whether billed or unbilled, to and including the Winter Checkpoint Date. This 
information will be provided to Customer for information purposes only, and in no way limits or 
qualifies Customer's obligation to ensure that the actual BGA balance is greater than or equal to 
the Winter Checkpoint Quantity on the Winter Checkpoint Date. As the Winter BGA Balance is 
comprised of third party weather forecasts and Customer's consumption forecast, Union cannot 
make any representation or warranty as to the accuracy of the Winter BGA Balance. 

During February, if Union determines that the estimated BGA wiIl be less than the Winter Checkpoint Quantity then Union wiIl advise Customer of the additional quantity of Gas that must 
be delivered. Customer must, by the 15th Business Day of February, request approval for a 
balancing transaction to deliver the additional Gas. If Customer does not make a request by the 15th Business Day, or if Union has approved a balancing transaction and the Gas is not delivered by Customer, then Union wiIl seIl to Customer, and Customer wiIl accept, that quantity of Gas at 
the Banked Gas Purchase commodity charge from the R 1 Rate Schedule. 

Fall Checkpoint 

During September, Union win determine and advise Customer of the quantity of Gas that must 
he disposed of in advance of the Fall Checkpoint Date to ensure that the BGA balance is nut 
greater than the Fall Checkpoint Quantity on the Fall Checkpoint Date. If, by the FaIl Checkpoint 
Date, Customer has not disposed of a quantity of Gas greater than or equal to the quantity 
directed by Union, then Customer shall incur a charge equivalent to the Unauthorized Storage 
Space Overrun rate in Union's T I Rate Schedule multiplied by the ditTerence between the 
quantity directed by Union and the actual quantity disposed of by Customer. In addition, 
Customer shall take immediate steps to dispose of this difference. 
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3.02 Service under tbe Customer Determined Balancing Option 

\Vhere Schedule I identifies the balancing option as "Customer Determined Balancing Option". Section 3.01 this Schedule.2 shall apply to the exclusion of Section 3,01. 

Under the Customer Determined Balancing Option, Customer is responsible tor determining the quantity of Gas that must be supplied and executing the actions required to ensure that the actual BGA balance is greater than or equal to the \Vinter Checkpoint Quantity as of the \\'inter Checkpoint Date, and determining the quantity of Gas that must he disposed of and executing the actions required to ensure that the actual BGA halance is less than or equal to the Fall Checkpoint Quantity as of the Fall Checkpoint Date, 

\Vinter Cbeck Point 

Periodically during the winter, Union will estimate what the BGA balance will he as of the Winter Checkpoint Date ("Winter BGA Balance") using recent third party weather forecasts. if applicable, and Customer's monthly consumption forecast. The BGA estimate will include estimated consumption, whether billed or unbilled, to and including the Winter Checkpoint Date. This information will be provided to Customer for information purposes only, and in no way limits or qualifies Customer's obligation to ensure that the actual BGA balance is greater than or equal to the Winter Checkpoint Quantity on the Winter Checkpoint Date. As the Winter BGA Balance is comprised of third party weather forecasts and Customer's consumption forecast, Union cannot make any representation or warranty as to the accuracy of the Winter BGA Balance. 

If Customer determines that it requires a change in its supply arrangements to meet its Winter Checkpoint Quantity as of the Winter Checkpoint Date, Customer must, by the 15th 
Business Day of February, request approval for a balancing transaction to deliver the additional Gas, If Customer does not make a request by the 15th 

Business Day of February then Union is not obligated to, accept the request if it cannot be reasonably accommodated or exposes Union to incremental costs. 

If the actual BGA balance is less than the Winter Checkpoint Quantity on the Winter Checkpoint Date then Union will sell to Customer, and Customer will accept, a quantity of Gas equal to the difference between the actual BGA halance and the Winter Checkpoint Quantity, at the Banked Gas Purchase commodity charge in the R I Rate Schedule. 

Fall Cbeckpoint 

If the actual BGA balance is greater than the Fall Checkpoint Quantity on the Fall Checkpoint Date, Customer shall incur a charge equivalent to the Unauthorized Storage Space Overrun rate in Union's TI Rate Schedule multiplied by the difference between the actual BGA halance and the Fall Checkpöint Quantity, In addition, Customer shall take immediate steps to dispose of the quantity in excess of the Fall Checkpoint Quantity, 

3.03 Additional BGA J\(onitoring and IV(aintenance Obligations 

fn addition to meeting the Fall Checkpoint Quantity on the Fall Checkpoint Date and the \Vinkr ( 'heckpomt Quantity on the Winter Checkpoint Date above, Customer agrees to monitor its BGA halance on an ongoing oasis, and ::;haf! maintain a BGA oalancc such that it does not exceed tht: 

Ullon 
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Maximum Positive Variance or Maximum Negative Variance on the BGA Balancing Period 
Date(s) specified in Section 3 of Schedule I. If Customer anticipates a BGA balance outside of 
any of these parameters then Customer shall promptly notify l'nion. 

If Union forms the opinion that the BGA balance will exceed the :\faximum Positive Variance at 

the end of a BGA Balancing Period Date as referenced in Section 3 of Schedule I then blion, in 

its discretion, shall have the right to refuse receipt of Gas. 

Union's refusal to receive Gas under any circumstances described in this section does not relieve 
Customer of its obligation on any subsequent Day to deliver its Obligated DCQ to Union should 
l'nion require it. Union agrees to act in a reasonable and responsible manner \\-hcn interpreting 
the relevant data for determining the forecasted BGA balances. Union shall not he Iiabk for any 
damages, losses, costs or expenses incurred hy Customer as a consequence of refusing receipt of 
Gas. 

3.04 Positive BGA Implications 

In addition to planning and operating to balance to zero at the end of the Contract Year, 
Customer must take all actions required to ensure that the Maximum Positive Variance is not 
exceeded. On any BGA Balancing Period Date identified in Section 3 of Schedule 1, if the actual 
BGA balance is in excess of the Maximum Positive Variance then such excess shall incur a 

charge equivalent to the Unauthorized Storage Space Overrun rate in Union'sT] Rate Schedule. 

3.05 Negative BGA Implications 

In addition to planning and ?perating to balance to zero at the end of the Contract Year, 
Customer must take all actions required to ensure that the Maximum Negative Vanance is not 
exceeded. On any BGA Balancing Period Date identified in Section 3 of Schedule 1, if the actual 
BGA balance is in excess of the Maximum Negative Variance then the excess shall be sold by 
Union and purchased by Customer at the Banked Gas Purchase charge in the R 1 Rate Schedule. 

3.06 Energy Conversion 

Balancing of receipt by Union with distribution to Customer is calculated in energy. The 
distribution to Customer is converted from volume to energy using Union's standard practices. 

3.07 Disposition of Gas at Contract Termination 

If this Contract terminates or expires and Customer does not have a contract for Storage Services 
with Union then, except as authorized by Union, no positive BGA balance shall he allowed. 
('nless otherwise agreed to by Union, any positive BGA balance remaining in Customer's BGA 
as of such date of termination or expiry shall mcur a charge equivalent to the L'nauthorized 
Storage Space Overrun rate in Union's TI Rate Schedule. Customer shall incur such charge until 
the balance has been reduced to zero. 

{ 'nless otherwise agreed to by Union, any negative BGA halance as of the date of termination 
shall be sold by Union, and purchased by Customer, at the Banked Gas Purchase commodity 
charge in tht.: R I Rate Schedule. 
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3.08 BGA Carryover Limitation During Late Season Injection 

If the current Contract Year ends during the period September 15 to November 15, Union will provide Storage Services tor a positive BGA balance on a reasonable efforts basis only. If in Union's opinion such Service is not available, Customer, when requested by Union, shall reduce deliveries to Union to ensure that the positive balance is reduced to zero or to an amount specified by Union. Such request by Union shall release Customer from its Obligation to deliver during the period specified. Any Gas in excess of the amount specified by Union shall incur a charge equivalent to the Unauthorized Storage Space Overrun rate in Cnion's T I Rate Schedule. 

4 CHANGES TO CONTRACT PARAMETERS (SCHEDULE 1) 

Any changes to End Use locations, consumption patterns, or upstream supply may have a corresponding change to the parameters in Schedule 1 as detemlined by Union. If there is a change, Customer will receive a revised Schedule I from Union prior to the effective date of the change. If Customer does not acknowledge and agree to the revised Schedule I in writing at least 25 days prior to the effective date of the change then the Contract will be terminated. 

5 CUSTOMER'S FAILURE TO DELIVER GAS 

5.01 Customer's Failure To Deliver Obligated DCQ to Union 

If on any Day, for any reason, including an instance of Force Majeure, Customer fails to deliver the Obligated DCQ to Union then such event shall constitute a "Failure to Deliver" and the Failure to Deliver rate in the RI Rate Schedule shall apply to the quantity Customer fails to deliver. The upstream transportation costs (if any) (Section I) shall also apply and be payable by Customer. 

For Gas that should have been received, Union may make reasonable attempts, but is not obligated to acquire an alternate supply of Gas. For greater certainty, payment of the Failure to Deliver charge is independent of and shall not in any way influence the calculation of Union's costs and expenses associated with acquiring the said alternate supply of Gas. 

In addition to any rights of interruption in the Gas Distribution Contract(s), Union may immediately suspend distribution of Gas to the Consumption Points or Union may direct Customer to immediately curtail or cease consumption of Gas at the Consumption Points. 

Customer shall immediately comply with such direction. Such suspension or curtailment shall not constitute an Interruption under the Gas Distribution Contract( s). 

Cnion shall not be liable for any damages, losses, costs or expenses incurred by Customer as a consequence of Union exercising its rights under this Section. 
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5.02 Notice Of Failure 

Each Party shall advise the other by the most expeditious means available as soon as it becomes 

aware that such failure has occurred or is likely to occur. Such notice may be oral, provided it is 

follo\ved by written Notice. 

5.03 Customer Failure To Deliver Compressor Fuel 

For Gas to be delivered by Customer to Union at an Upstream Point of Receipt if Customer fails 

to deliver sufficient Compressor Fuel then, in addition to any other remedy, Cnion shall deem 
the first Gas recei\cd to be Compressor Fuel and Section 5.01 \vil1 apply. 
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SCIIE()t:LE "3" 
C 'r:lel ~I F ~:IX 

,r:lc:1 . :llllè ,I, J ] 
Fnd I 'se l.ist 

The IOCiltions stated hereunder shall collectively he detined as Point( s) of Cnnsumption, Ihe parties acknowledge that the ('nion account numher(s) is tllr ease ofadministratinn and should any number be changed to a new number, this Contract is deemed to be automatically amended to include slKh new number. 

For all Bundled T Contracts submitted and administered electronically hy tht: Customer or its I\gent using {'nionline. the End Use List is providt:d in the ( 'nionline Price Point Cross Retì:renct: Report 
("Price Report"), 

I 'Ilion, \<:èOllIl1 it ('onSlIlTlèr Name 
SAI550 Ì'<R(i 11'\111 I'll 

, \ddress 

JIlIl.fO IlR \VFs I (Ill s IIR II 211l( )J{( IllS II R N II' ON 
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GENERAl, TERl\IS AND CONDITIONS 
I NOMINATION REQUIREMENTS FOR INFRANCHISE CONTRACTED SERVI('ES 

................3 
1.0 I NOr>.IINA TION CYCLE TIMELINES 

.................. ..... ...... ..................................................................... 3 
1.02 NOi\IINATION DEADLINE FOR SERVICES REQURING UNION TO NOMINATE ON OTHER PIPELINES 3 
1.03 NOMINATI()N QUANTITIES (UNITS) 

............... ....... .......... ...... .... ....... ..... ...... ............ ....... .......... ..... 
3 I .04 C( )i\tPRESS()R FUEL............................................................................................................. 

.........3 1.05 UNION'S ACCEPTANCE ()F N( )!\IINAfiONS 
....................................................................................4 I '()6 CONFIRi\tATION PROCESS 

..... .......... ...... ................ '" ......... ....... ............. ..... ........ ......... ... ............ 
.....J. 

1.07 SCHEDl il.lNG PROCESS 
...... ............... ... ........ ... ......... ......... ....... ............. ...... ................. ............... ..4 1.08 SUBSEQUENT NO!\flNATI( )NS 

................. .......................................................................................4 1.09 PARK \VA Y 
CALL........................ ................................................................................................... 4 

2 F() R ('E J\; I ,\J E IT RE 
.......... ..... ....... ......... ...... ......... ......................... ............. .............. ........... ...................... 

5 

2.0 I F( )RCE MAJEURE NOT A V A 
ILABLE............ ................................................................................... 5 

2.02 FORCE MAJEURE DECLARED BY UNION 
.......................................................................................6 2.03 FORCE MAJEURE DECLARED BY CUSTOMER 

................................................................................6 2.04 ApPLICABILITY TO CONTRACTUAL ANNUAL QUANTITY REQUIREMENTS 
....................................6 3 TERMIN A TI 0 NAND SUSPENSION 

..................................................................................................... 6 

3.0 I TERMINATIONS BY EITHER PARTy..... .......... ........ ......... .......... .................................. ....... ............6 3.02 SUSPENSION OF SERV ICE.. .................................. ..................... .............. ........................... .... ........7 3.03 EFFECT OF TERl\flNA TION 
...... ............... .................... ........................... ............................. ............7 

.. NO TI CE . ............. ......... ................................ .............. ...................................... .............. ............... .............. 
7 

5 B IL LING 
...................... .............................. ........... ........................................... ....................... .................... 

8 

5.0 1 MONTHLY 
BILLING................................ ........................ ....... .... ...... ..................................... ........8 5.02 RIGHT OF EXAl\flNA TION 

............ ....... .... ............... ............... ........... .......... ....... ................. ............8 5.03 PA Yl'vfENTS 
..... .................. ..... ........ ........... ... ..... ... ......... .... ............................ .................. ..............8 5.03 -I Pa.vlnellt 

Date................... .......... .................. ................. .................. ......................... .......8 5.03 -2 Renlcdies For IVOIl-Payl1lt'llt..... 
................... ......................................................... ...........8 5.03 -3 Adjustmellf of' Ullderpayment. or Ove11'ayment........................................... ...................8 .5 .04 FINANCIAL ASSURANCE 

.................... ............................................................. ....... .......................8 5.05 N( )N-PA Yl'vtENT REl\tEDY............ ....... ......... ................................ ..................................................9 
6 Q VA lJTY ......... ........... ..... ..... ...... ......... ................ .............. .................. ..... ...... ......... .................. ................ 

9 

6.0 1 NATURAL GAS 
QUALITy..................................................... .................................. ............. ..........9 6.0:2 FREEDOM FROM OBJECTIONABLE MA TIER ................ ......... ......................... ....... ......................... 

9 
6.03 PARTIES' RESPONSIBILITIES. 

............... ......... '" ....................... ............. ....................... ................ 
10 

7 1\ I E.AS U REl\ lENT 
..... ...... .............................. ......... ..... ..... .............. ......... ......... .......... .......... .... ................ 

10 
7.01 DETERMINATION OF Vm.l'i\tE AND ENERGY 

..............................................................................10 7'():2 METERING BY UNION, CHECK MEASURING EQUIP!\IENT 
............................................................10 7.03 OBSER VATION OF l\fEASL'REMENT 

WORK........................... ................................... .................... 
10 

7.04 CALIBRATION AND TEST OF METERS 
.........................................................................................11 7.05 CORRECTION OF METERI:'-JG ERRORS _ F\ILLRE OF METERS 

.....................................................11 
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8 POSSESSION OF AND RESPONSIBILITY FOR GAS 
......................................................................11 

8.01 POI:"lT OF RECEIPT ,\:"ID POINT OF CONSLMPTION CONTROLS 
..................................................... 

11 

X .02 '[ITLE TO THE GAS 
............................ ....... ...................... ................... .......................................... 

11 

8.03 COMMON CoX RRIER AND INSl:RANCE 
.......................................................................................... 
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GENERAL TER~IS AND CONDITIONS 

1 Nomination Requirements for Infranchise Contracted Services 
Customers with contracted services requiring Nominations to Union must submit Nominations to Union in accordance with Union's nomination provisions. These Nominations must be submitted to Union via fax or Unionline where available for nominations. 

Union follows the North American Energy Standard Board (NAESB) timeline standards providing for ~ available nomination cycles for each Gas Day. Each of the nomination cycles 
follmvs the same process sequence: Nomination. acceptance. confirnlation and scheduling. 

1.01 Nomination Cycle Timelines 

The table below identifies the deadlines for each of the ~ standard Nomination cycles. All times are identitied as Eastern Clock Time (ECT, 

1- 
Nor:lination Cycle 

J--;ax 
Deadline 

(--~-------I-- I' Timely (Cycle I, 1130 hours 
Evening (Cycle 1) 1800 hours 

"-~-.'._'----'~-------L-__ 

Unionline Deadline 
(* where available) 

1230 hours 

1900 hours 

Scheduling 

Deadline 

1730 hours 

2300 hours 

Effective 

Flow 

1000 hours 

1000 hours 

Intra-Day Nominations can be used to modify nominated quantities on the current Gas Day, 

r Nomination Cycle Fax 
Unionline Scheduling Effective 

(* where available) Deadline Flow r- 
--_._~ 1 Intraday I (Cycle J) 1000 hours 1100 hours 1500 hours 1800 hour L~~traday 2 (Cycle ~~~~_ 1700 hours /800 hours 2200 hours 2200 hour - 

s 

s 

1.02 Nomination Deadline for Services requiring Union to Nominate on Other Pipelines 

The Nomination deadline for any contracted services (ie. exchanges) requiring Union to nominate on upstream pipelines is 10:30 ECT. These services are only offered on the Timely Nomination Cycle. If nominated after 10:30 ECT and before the close of the Timely Nomination deadline Union will attempt to accommodate on a reasonable efforts basis.. Union does not accept changes to the nominated quantities for these services after the close of the Timely Nomination deadline. 

1.03 Nomination Quantities (Units) 

All Services are required to be nominated in whole Gigajoules (GJ's) 

1.04 Compressor Fuel 

For Services requiring Customer to provide compressor fuel in kind the nominated fuel requirements will be calculated by rounding to the nearest whole GJ 
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1.05 enion's Acceptance of Nominations 

Union will accept Nominations for contracted Services on ea<.:h of the .+ standard nomination 

cycles. The Nomination \vill be rejected if the activity on the Nomination does not properly 

balance or if the nominated quantities violate Customer's contractual entitlements. 

If a Nomination is not reccÎved prior to the nomination deadline it will be held for scheduling 

in the subsequent nomination cycle for the Gas Day. 

1.06 Confirmation Process 

The confirmation process validates nominated quantities to flow bet\veen interconnecting 

pipelines to ensure Customers have nominated identical quantities to both pipeline operators. 

In the case where there is a discrepancy between the nominated quantities and the dis<.:repancy 

<.:annot be resolved with Customer, then the lower quantity will be the continued scheduled 

quantity. 

1.07 Scheduling Process 

During the scheduling process Union compares all of the requests for services (Nominations) 

to the physical capacity available for the Gas Day in question. 

If there is insufficient capacity available to meet all of the nominated quantities Union will 
complete scheduling reductions of Nominated interruptible services. 

If Union is unable to completely schedule an interruptible service Customer will be advised of 

their scheduled quantities no later than the dose of the scheduling deadline for the applicable 

nomination cycle. Once notified, Customer is, within 30 minutes, required to submit a revised 

Nomination to meet the scheduled quantity for the interruptible service. In order to be 

accepted, this Nomination must be properly balanced and the nominated quantities must not 

violate Customer's contractual entitlements If a revised Nomination is not submitted, Union 

will. using the contracted services Customer has available, re-balance the Nomination to 

match the scheduled quantities. 

Scheduling of Firm Services must be nominated on the Timely Nomination Cycle. 

Nominations for increasing quantities for Firm Services after the Timely Nomination Cycle 

will be treated as Interruptible Services and will only be scheduled if there is suftident 
capacity available. 

1.08 Subsequent Nominations 

All scheduled Nominations for infranchise Services wi II remam III effe<.:t until a new 
Nomination is provided by Customer. 

The Unbundled Servin~ requires a valid daily Nomination. 

1.09 Parkway Call 

This Section 1.09 is only applicable to Rates U2, US, U7 and U9. Union shall advise 

Customer of the Parkway Call requirement on or before 1730 hours on the day immediately 

preceding the Gas Day for which the Parkway Call is required. 
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After being notitied hy Union but no later than 1900 hours on the same day. Customer shall provide a revised Nomination to Union, \'vhich shall include the entire Parkway Call. If a 
revised Nomination acceptable to Union is not provided by 1900 hours or docs not include the 
entire Parkway Call, a Failure to Deliver will be deemed to have occurred, and the Failure to 
Deliver section in Schedule 2 the Contracts shall apply. 

2 FORCE ÑIAJEURE 
In the event that either Customer or Union is rendered unable. in whole or in part, by Force 
Majeure, to perform or comply \vith any ohligation or condition of this Contrad then, subject 
to the provision of this Section 2. the obligations (other that the obligations to make payment of money then due) of both parties so far as they are directly related to and affected hy such Force Majeure, shall be suspended during the continuance of the Force Majeure. 

The party claiming Force Majeure shall give Notice, with full particulars of such Force 
Majeure, to the other party as soon as possible after the occurrence of Force Majeure. 

The party claiming Force M<úeure shall also give Notice to the other party as soon as possible 
after the Force Majeure is remedied in whole or part. 

Force Majeure means: 

a) Acts of God, landslides, lightning, earthquakes, tires, storms, floods, washouts, explosions, breakage or accident to its machinery or equipment or lines of pipe; 

b) freezing or failure of wells or lines of pipe; curtailment of firm transportation and/or firm storage by Transporters; 

c) strikes, lockouts or other industrial disturbances, riots, sabotage, insurrections, ci viI disturbance, acts of terrorism, wars, arrests or restraint of governments and people; 

d) any laws, orders, rules, regulations, acts of any government body or authority, civil or military; 

e) any act or omission by parties not controlled by the party daiming force majeure; and 

f) any other similar causes not within the control of the party claiming force majeure 

which by the exercise of due diligence such party is unable to prevent or overcome. The party claiming Force Majeure shall make reasonable efforts to avoid. or correct the Force Majeure and to remedy the Force Majeure once it has occurred in order to resume 
performance. 

2.01 Force l\lajeure Not A vailahle 
A pm1y daiming Force Majeure shall not be entitled to the benetit of the provisions of Force Majeure if anyone or more of the following circumstances prevail: 
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a) the failure resulting in the Force Majeure \vas caused by the negligence of the party 

claiming Force fvlajeurc; 

b) the party claiming Force Majeure failed to make all reasonable efforts (not including 

litigation, if such remedy \\iould require litigation) to remedy the Force ~Iajeure; 

c) the Force Majeure was caused by lack of funds; 

d) the pm1y claiming Force .Majeure did not give Notice required, as soon as reasonably 

possible after the Force M,ueure occurred. 

2.02 Force Majeure Declared h)' Union 

During a Force Majeure declared by Union, Customer will be responsible for commodity 
~:harges and \s"i11 only be relieved of the demand charges applicable to that part of the Services 

not available to Customer as a result of the Force Majeure. Union will not be responsible for 

any Transporter charges. 

2.03 Force Majeure Declared h)' Customer 

During a Force Majeure declared by Customer, all demand charges and all commodity 
charges otherwise payable under this Contract will be continue to be payable. Where 

Customer's Contract includes an Obligation to Deliver Gas to Union, such Obligation to 

Deliver Gas to Union at the Point of Receipt shall not be relieved under Force Majeure where 

such Force Majeure occurs at Customer's facilities downstream of the Point of Consumption. 

Union will not be responsible for any Transporter charges. 

2.04 Applicahilit}' to Contractual Annual Quantity Requirements 

a) The number of days of Force Majeure will proportionally reduce any minimum annual 

quantity upon which any minimum bills are determined, and such reduced minimum 

annual quantity will not be limited to the minimum quantity required to qualify for the 

applicable Rate Schedule. 

b) Service taken during the period of Force Majeure will be deemed not to have been taken 

for purposes of determining the applicable minimum annual quantity. 

3 TERIVHNA TION and SUSPENSION 

3.01 Terminations By Either Party 

Either party may terminate this Contract under the conditions and procedures as set out below. 

Subject to the other provisions of this Contract. in the event of a breach. misrepresentation, 

non-observance or non-petformance by any party to this Contract of any covenant. provision. 

representation. condition, continuing condition. restriction or stipulation contained in this 

Contract. the party not in default may give wt;tten Notice to the defaulting party requiring it 

to remedy such default. If the defaulting party fails to fully remedy the party not in default for 

all consequences of such default within a period of ten ( 10) Business Days from receipt of 

such Notice, this Contract may be terminated by Notice from the party not in default. 
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These rights shall he in aùùition to, anù not in ùerogation of or in substitution for, any other 
light or remeùy which the parties respectively at law or in equity shall or may possess. 

If either party makes an assignment in bankruptcy, is a party against whom a receiving order 
is made, or for whom a receiver or monitor has heen appointed under a security agreement or 
by a court or any similar action unùer any law, the other party may terminate the Contract 
immeùiately, except \"here not permitted hy such la\v. 

J.02 Suspension of Service 

If Customer is the defaulting party and the ùefault is material. Union reserves the right to 
suspenù any or all of the Services and such suspension ...hall not relieve Customer from paying 
any charges. 

An event of ùefault giving rise to Union's right to suspend shall include a failure to pay Union 
when payment it ùue, a failure to provide financial assurances when required under section 
5.04, and a Failure to Deliver. In all cases, the materiality of the default shall be determined 
by the parties hereto, acting reasonably. 

J.03 Effect of Termination 

Notwithstanding the termination of this Contract, each party shall continue to be liable to pay 
on the temlS herein specified any amount accrued and payable up to the time of termination. 
Termination will be without waiver of any other remedy to which the party not in default may be entitled including breaches of contract, for past and future damages, and losses. 

4 NOTICE 
All Notices required hereunder shall be in writing and shall be sufficiently given and received 
if personally delivered or sent by mail or Unionline or facsimile to the address of the party to 
which the Notice is given specified in Schedule I. 

Personally served Notice is deemed to be received when actually delivered, 

Notice sent by mail or Unionline is deemed to have been receiveù when actually received. 

Notice sent by facsimile is deemed to have been received on the ùate of receipt of the 
transmission. 

Notwithstanding the above, any Notice or Unionline communication, received after Spm or on 
a weekend or a statutory holiday is ùeemed to be received on the next Business Day. 

The aùùresses of Customer and Union for receipt of Notices are as ...ct out in Schedule I and 
such addresses may be changed by Notice given in accordance with this Section 4. 

Email is not an acceptable fonn of Notice. 
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5 Bll,LING 

5.01 Monthly Billing 

Each 1\lonth. Union shall render a bill for Services and any other charges for the preceding 

Month. Charges may be based on estimated yuantities. If actual quantities are unavailable in 

time to prepare the bill. Union shall provide. in a future Month's billing, an adjustment based 

on any difference between actual quantities and estimated yuantities. 

5.02 Right of Examination 

Both Union and Customer shall have the right to examine at any reasonable time copies of the 

books, records and charts of the other to the extent necessary to verify the accuracy of any 

statt:ment, chart or computation made under or pursuant to the provisions of this Contract. 

5.03 Payments 

5.03-1 Payment Date 

Payment date is identified in the applicable Rate Schedule. If payment date is not identified 
in a Rate Schedule, it will be as identified on the invoice. 

5.03-2 Remedies For Non-Payment 

In the event that Customer fails to pay Union when payment is due, late payment charges as 

identified in the applicable Rate Schedule and the termination and suspension provisions will 
apply. 

5.03-3 Adjustment of Underpayment. or Overpayment 

If a Customer disputes a bill or any portion thereof, Customer shall pay the undisputed 

portions of the bill. Together with such payment. Customer shall provide written Notice to 

Union setting out the portions of the bill that are in dispute, an explanation of the dispute and 
the amount that Customer believes is the correct amount. 

If it is subsequently determined that Customer has been overcharged and Customer has 

actually paid the bil\( s) containing the overcharge then, within thirty (30) days after the final 
determination, Union shall refund the amount of any such overcharge with Interest. 

If it is subsequently determined that Customer has been undercharged. Customer shall pay the 

amount of any such undercharge within thirty l30) days after the final determination. Any 
claim related to overcharge or undercharge must be made within twelve (12) Months from 
date such overcharge or undercharge is believed to have occun'ed. 

;- 
- 

,,'- 

i..~ ~:.<<t4 Financial Âssurance 

If at any time during the Term of this contract. Union has reasonable grounds to believe that 

Customer's creditworthiness under the Contract has become unsatisfactory, then Union may 
by written Notice request tìnancial assurances from Customer in an amount determined by 

Union in a commercially reasonable manner. Upon receipt of such vvritten Notice, Customer 
shall have 1.+ Jays to provide such tinancial assurances. 
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The financial assurances requested by Union will not exceed the sum of the foIlo\\ing: 

a) an amount equal to 60 days of all Union Services: and, 

b) if Customer holds a temporary capacity assignment from Union of a third paIly asset 
(for example, upstream pipeline capacity), an amount equal to the higher of 60 days of all 
charges for the third party asset, or security equivalent to that which may be required by the 
third party asset provider as if Customer held the asset directly; and, 

c) if Customer supplies their own Gas, an amount equivalent to the value, as detemlÎned 
by Union, of any l..'urrcnt pr projected negative Banked Gas Account balance. 

Customer may provide Union such financial assurances in the form of cash, letters of credit, 
guarantees or such other form as may be agreed upon between Customer and Union. 

) In the event that Customer fails to provide financial assurances as set out above, the 
termination and suspension provisions in Section 3 may apply. 

Where Customer has provided financial assurances to Union, and the grounds for requesting 
such financial assurances have been removed so that Customer's creditworthiness under the 
Contract has become satisfactory, then Customer may request the return of such tìnancial 
assurances from Union by written Notice. Upon receipt of such written Notice Union shall 
have 14 days to return such financial assurances to Customer. 

5.05 Non-Payment Remedy 

If Customer shall be indebted (whether past, present, or future, liquidated. or unliquidated) to 
Union, under this Contract.,Union has the right to reduce any amount payable by Union to 
Customer under this Contract by an amount equal to the amount of such indebtedness to 
Union. 

As part of this remedy, Union may take title to any or all of Customer's Gas in Union's 
possession. Such Gas shall be valued at the day price for Gas at Dawn as listed in Canadian 
Gas Price Reporter for the day of non-payment. 

6 QUALITY 

6.01 Natural Gas Quality 

In any r>.lonth, the minimum average gross heating value of the Gas received by Union from 
Customer and delivered to Customer by Union shall be thirty six (ló) Megajoules per Cubic 
Metre. Gas shall not contain more than twenty three (23) milligrams of hydrogen sulphide per 
Cubic J\.lctre nor four hundred and sixty (60) milligrams of total sulphur per Cubic Metre of 
Gas, as determined by standard methods of testing. 

6.02 Freedom from Objectionable Matter 
The Gas received by Union and delivered to Customer hereunder shall be free (at prevailing 
pressure and temperature in Union's pipeline at the Point of Receipt or Point of Consumption. 
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as the case may be) from dust, or other solids or liquids which cause injury to, or interfere 

with proper operation of the lines, regulators, or meters through \vhich it tlows. 

6.03 Parties' Responsibilities 

If the Gas being received by Union from Customer or delivered by Union to Customer fails at 

any time to conform to any of the specitìcations set forth in this Section 6, the party receiving 

such Gas shall notify the delivering party of such detìciency and thereupon the party receiving 

the Gas may, at its option, refuse to accept receipt of Gas pending cOiTection by the party 

delivering the Gas. Neither party is responsible for any loss, damage, or injury unless there 

has been gross negligence or wilful misconduct. 

7 l\IEASUREIVIENT 

7.01 Determination of Volume and Energ}' 

a) The volume and energy amounts shall be determined in accordance with the Electricity 
and Gas Inspection Act, assented to 3 I March, 1982 and the Electricity and Gas 
Inspection Regulations, P.c. 1986-116, 16 January, 1986, and any documents issued 

under the authority of the Act and Regulations and any amendments thereto. Where there 

is no site specific energy measurement, the Union's Average Heat Value will be used to 

convert volumes to energy. 

b) The supercompressibility factor shall be determined in accordance with either the 

"Manual for Determination of Supercompressibility Factors for Natural Gas" (pAR 
Project NX-19) published in 1962 or with American Gas Association Transmission 

Measurement Committee Report No.8, Nov. 1992, at Union's discretion. 

7.02 Metering by Union, Check Measuring Equipment 

Union will install and operate meters and related equipment in accordance with the Act and 

the Regulations referenced in these General Terms and Conditions. 

Customer may install, maintain, and operate, such check measuring equipment as desired, and 

shall be so installed as not to interfere with the operation of Union's measuring equipment at 

or near the Consumption Point. This check measuring equipment will be downstream of the 

Consumption Point and at Customer's own expense. 

Where Union has installed heat value measuring equipment at Customer's End Use location, 

the heating value properly measured at this site will be used to convert volume to energy for 

Gas delivered by Union to Customer. 

7.03 Observation of Measurement \\lurk 

Lnion and Customer shall have the option to have representatives present at the time of any 

installing, reading, cleaning, changing, repairing, inspecting, testing. calibrating, or adjusting 

done in connection with the other's measuring equipment. Each party shall provide 
reasonable notitîcation to the other party in connection with testing, calibrating or adjusting 

measuring equipment. to enable the other party to be present if desired. 
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7.04 Calibration and Test of Meters 

The accuracy of Union's measuring equipment shall be verified by Union at reasonable 
intervals. 

If Customer notifies Union that it desires a special test, the expense of any such test shall be 
borne by Customer if the measuring equipment tested is found to be in en'or by two per cent 
(2ré) or less. In this event, previous re<.:ordings shall be considered accurate, but such 
equipment shall be adjusted to record as near to absolute ac<.:uracy as possible. If the special 
test shows a per<.:entage of ina<.:curacy greater than two percent (2l1-), the expense of the test 
\\ ill by borne by Union and the tìnandal adjustment shall be <.:alculated in ac<.:ordance with the 
Ad and Regulations thereunder, in accordance with any successor statutes and regulations. 
Union shall not be required to verify the accuracy of such equipment more frequently than 
once in any thirty (30) day period. 

7.05 Correction of l\iletering Errors - Failure Of Meters 
In the event a meter is out of service, or registered inaccurately, the volume or quantity of Gas 
shall be determined by Union as follows: 

a) by using the registration of any <.:heck meter or meter, if installed and accurately 
registering; or, in the absence of (a) then; 

b) by correcting the error if the percentage of error is ascertainable by <.:alibration, tests or 
mathematical calculation; or in the absence of both (a) and (b), then; 

c) by estimating the quantity of Gas delivered during periods under similar conditions when 
the meter was registering accurately. 

8 POSSESSION OF AND RESPONSIBILITY FOR GAS 

8.0 I Point of Receipt and Point of Consumption Controls 

As between Union and Customer, <.:ontrol, responsibility, and possession of all Gas re<.:eived 
and/or delivered and transported hereunder shall pass from the delivering party to the 
re<.:eiving party at the Points of Receipt and the Points of Consumption as applicable. 

8.02 Title to the Gas 

Each party warrants that it owns or controls, has the right to deliver or have delivered to the 
other party, Gas that is free and clear of any lien, mortgage, security interest or other 
encumbrance whatsoever. The delivering party shall indemnify and hold harmless the 
receiving party from all claims, actions, or damages arising from any adverse claims by third 
parties claiming an ownership or an interest in such Gas. 

8.03 Common Carrier and Insurance 

To further clarify the relationship between Union and Customer, Union IS not a common 
calTier and Union is not an insurer of Customer's Gas. 
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8.0'" Right to Commingle the Gas 

Union shall have the right to commingle and use the Gas received under this C\Hltract \\ith 

Gas owned by Union or others and deliver such commingled Gas to Customers. 

9 FACIlJTIES AT CONSUl\IPTION POINT 

9.01 Construction, Maintenance and Entry 

Union may construct on Customer's property (whether owned by Customer or some other 

party), at each Point of Consumption the metering stations and facilities requin::d by Union. 

Union employees or agents may at any reasonable time, \vith notitication to Customer (except 

in cases of emergency where no notification is required), enter Customer's property provided 

that in all cases Union's employees or agents agree to abide by Customers facility security 

policies and procedures and health and safety policies prov ided that they are reasonable and 

provided by Customer to Union's employees or agent prior to entry to the property. 

9.02 Property, Easement", Utilities 

Customer agrees that all stations and facilities installed by Union, including the meter station, 

are the property of Union whether the facilities are on property belonging to Customer or 

some other party. 

Customer grants to Union on such commercial terms and conditions as may be agreed upon 

any required easements or agreements and undertakes to obtain or execute and deliver to 

Union such required easements or agreements to allow Union to have the related use of 
Customer's land interests which may be reasonably required by Union to facilitate 

Construction.. 

In the event that the meter at the Point of Consumption has telemetry capabilities, Customer 

agrees to provide and pay for, a minimum of one (I) 115 V.A.C. single phase 15 ampere 

power circuit and one exclusive telephone line at the metering stations for Union's telemetry 

purposes, 

10 INDEl\INITY 

Each party hereby agrees to indemnify and save the other harmless from and against all 

claims, demands, actions, causes of action, damage, loss, deficiency, cost, liability and 

expense which may be brought against such party or which such party may suffer or incur as a 

result of, in respect of, or arising out of: 

a) any non-perfonnance or non-fulfilment of any covenant or agreement on the part of the 

other party contained in this Contract; 

tlJ any misrepresentation, inaccuracy, incorrectness or breach of any representation or 

warranty made by the party contained in this Contract or contained in any document gi\en 
pursuant to this Contract; 

C) payment of any Goods and ServÌl.:es Tax or other government tax made un behalf of the 

uther party; and 
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d) (Subsectioll /O(d) is ollly applicable to "geflf or Customer) 
the failure of Customer or Agent to satisfy its ohligations to End Use locations listed in 
Schedule J (where a Schedule J is included in this Contract); 

el (SubsectÙm IO(e) is Oil!.\, applicahle to "geflf) 
any dispute arising out of any aspect of the relationship bet\veen the Agent and Customer; 

f) all costs and expenses including, \\ ithout limitation, legal fees, incidental to or in respect 
of the foregoing; 

g) any negligence or wilful misconduct. 

This indemnity shall survive the termination or expiration of the Contract. 

11 REPRESENTATIONS AND \VARRANTIES BY AGENT 
The Agent hereby represents and warrants to Union as follows and contirms that Union is 
relying upon the accuracy of each of such representations and warranties in connection with 
the execution of this Contract by Union and the acceptance of its rights and obligations 
hereunder: 

a) the Agent is the duly appointed agent of the Customers and, in such capacity, is entitled to 
enter into this Contract on behalf of the Customers and to act on their behalf hereunder; 

b) Union is entitled to rely on anything done or any document signed by the Agent on behalf 
of the Customers, or any of them, in respect of this Contract as if the action had been 
taken or the document had been signed by the Customers; and 

c) payments made by the Customers to Union pursuant to invoices shall be made without 
any right of deduction or set-off regardless of any rights the Customers may have against 
the Agent. 

12 l\;IISCELLANEOVS PROVISIONS 

12.01 Interpretation 

12.0 I-I Definitions and IndustrJ Usage 

Capitalized terms and certain other terms used in this Contract and not specifically detined 
shall have the meaning set forth in these General Terms and Conditions and/or Union's Rate 
Schedule, Words, phrases or expressions whk'h are not defined herein and which, in the usage 
or custom of the husiness of the exploration, production, transmission, storage, and 
distlibution or sale of natural Gas in Canada have an accepted meaning shall have that 
mealllng, 

12.01-2 Expanded Meaning 

In this Agreement, unless there IS something in the subject matter or context inconsistcnt 
thercwith: 
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a) words importing the singular shall include the plural and vÎl.:e versa; 

b) words imp0l1ing the gender shall indude the masculine, feminine and neuter genders; and 

c) references to any statute shall extend to any orders in-councilor regulations passed under 
and pursuant thereto, of any amendment or re-enactment or such statute, onlers-in-council 
or regulations, or any statute, orders-in-council or regulations substantially in replacement 

thereof. 

12.01-3 Inconsistency 

In the event of a contlict among the tenns uf the (i) Rate Schedules; (ii) Contract; (iii) 

Schedules; and, (ÎV) General Ternls and Conditions, the terms of the documents shall govern 
in the priority as listed. 

12.01-4 Currency 

Unless otherwise indicated, all reference to dollars III this Contract shall mean Canadian 

dollars. 

12.01-5 Time 

All references to time in this Contract shall be stated in Eastern Clock Time. 

12.02 Assignability 

Neither the rights nor the obligations of Customer under this Contract shall be assignable 

without the prior written consent of Union. Union's consent may not be unreasonably 

withheld or delayed. 

12.03 Proper Law of Contract 

The Contract shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Province 
of Ontario, and the parties to this Contract exclusively attorn to the jurisdiction of the Courts 
of Ontario. 

12.04 Successors and Assigns 

The Contract shall be binding upon and shall enure to the benefit of the Parties hereto and 
their respective sw.:cessors and permitted and lawful assigns. 

12.05 Entire Contract 

This Contract constitutes the entire agreement between the parties pertaining to the subject 

matter hereof. This Contract supersedes any prior agreements, understandings, negotiations 

or discussions, \Vhclher oral or written, between the Parties in respect of the subject matter 
hereof. 

12.06 Confidentiality 

Except for credit purposes, unless the Parties to this Contract otherwise expressly agree in 

writing. the terms of this Contract will remain stlÍctly confidential except as othenvise 
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required hy applicable law or oy any competent regulatory hody or court of competent jurisdiction. 

12.07 Priority of Sen'ice 

Despite any other provision of this Contract, when the use of Gas or Service is curtailed or 
restricted, hy order of any authorized government agency, or oy Force Majeure, Customer 
shall, in accordance Ii.. ith the direction of Union, l:urtail or discontinue use of Gas or Service dUling the period in whh.:h such Gas or Service is so jeopardized. Union shall not he liable for 
any loss of production or for any damages whatsoever by reason of such curtailment or 
discontinuance or because of the length of advance Notice given directing such curtailment or 
discontinuance. However, Union shall use its reasonahle efforts to provide Notice as soon as possiole to Customer, of such curtailment or discontinuance of Gas or Service as aforesaid. 

12.08 \Vaiver and Future Default 

No waiver oy either Union or Customer of anyone or more defaults by the other in the 
performance of any provisions of this Contract shall operate or he construed as a waiver of 
any future default or defaults, whether of a like or a different character. 

12.09 Laws, Regulations and Orders 

This Contract and the respective rights and obligations of the Parties hereto are subject to all 
present and future valid laws, statutes, orders, rules and regulations of any competent legislative body, or duly constituted authority now or hereafter having jurisdiction. The 
Contract shall be varied and amended to comply with or conform to any valid order or 
direction of any board, tribunal or administrative agency, which affects any of the provisions 
of this Contract. 

12.10 Right to Contract 

Customer hereby represents and warrants to Union that it or its Agent has the sole right to 
enter into this Contract for each of the Points of Consumption, for the term of this Contract. 

12.11 Surviving Ohligations 

Despite the termination or expiry of this Contract, the following defined provisions shall 
remain in full force and effect in accordance with their terms and shall survive termination or expiry. The term of the survival shall he for the period referenced in this section. 

a) confidentiality as outlined in Section 12.07 

h) liability and Gas balancing obligations to the extent any liabilities and Gas balancing 
obligations have accrued prior to the date of tem1Ìnation or expiry of this Contract, and 
may continue as a result of an event occurring prior to the termination or expiry of this 
Contract (for the period until all liabilities and Gas balancing and reconciliation's have 
been completed) 

c) settlement of accounts; rights to set off; calling any Letter of Credit; collecting on any security (for the period until all accounts have been settled). 
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12.12 Joint and Several Liability 

In the event that Customer is more than one person the obligations of all of such persons shall 

he joint and several and Union shall not be required to exhaust its lights and remedies against 

anyone person prior to exercising its rights and remedies in respect of any other person. 

12.13 Imalidity of Provisions 

If any of the provisions of this Contract are invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, 
the validity or legality of enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not in any v\ ay be 

affected. 

12.14 Service Curtailment 

Union may be required from time to time to pClform Construction to its facilities, \vhich may 
impact Union's ability to meet Customer's requirements. In such event, Union shall have the 
right to suspend Service in vvhole or in part but will use reasonable efforts to determine a 

mutually acceptable period during which such maintenance or Construction will occur and 
also to reasonably limit the extent and duration of any impairments. Union shall provide at 

least tifteen (15) days Notice (except in cases of emergency, then it may be done immediately 

with Notice provided as soon as reasonably possible afterwards) to Customer of the extent 
that Union's ability to provide Service may be impaired, During any such curtailment, 
Customer will be relieved of the demand charges for Services directly related to the said 

curtailment, but commodity and proportionate demand charges for Gas Service available to 
Customer will be payable. 

12.15 Unauthorized Use of Services 

If Customer exceeds the contract parameters (including Service, after notification of 
interruption of Interruptible Service or Curtailment resulting from a Force Majeure), in 
addition to charges identified in the Rate Schedules, Customer shall also be responsible for 
any direct damages resulting from exceeding the contract parameters and/or not complying 
fully with the any Notice. 

If Customer uses Interruptible Services, in breach of notification of Interruption, Union will 
have the right to change Customer from Interruptible Service to Firm Service or increase its 

Firm Service, by an amount equivalent to the quantity of such excess Interruptible Service 
used on any day effective on the first day of any Month following such breach. 

12.16 Consequential Claims or Damages 

Neither party shall be responsible for consequential or indirect damages..This provision shall 

survive the termination or expiration of this Contract. 

12.17 Further Assurances 

Each party will do, execute and deliver, or will cause to be done, executed and delivered, all 
such further acts, documents, and assurances as may reasonably be requested for the carrying 

out and performance of this Contract. 
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12.18 Amendment 

Union may from time to time incorporate updates to Schedule .2 and/or the General Terms and 
Conditions which are intended to be applicable to all of Union's customers on non- discriminatory basis. Union will notify Customer not less than bO days prior to the effective 
date of the update and post the update on Union's website. Union will notify Customer again 
not less than ]0 days prior to the effecti ve date of the update. If 10 Business Days plioI' to the 
effective date, Customer has not provided Notice to Union objecting to the update, then 
Customer will be deemed to have accepted the revised Schedule.2 and/or General Terms and 
Conditions. as the case may be, which shall, as of the effective date, apply to this Contract. If 
Customer has provided Notice objecting to the update, the revision shall not apply to this 
Contract. 

12.19 Counterparts 

This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of whkh so executed being 
deemed to be an original. Such counterparts together shall constitute one and the same 
instrument and notwithstanding their date of execution shall be deemed to be made and dated 
as of the date hereof. 

13 DEFINITIONS 
Except where this Contract expressly states another meaning, the following definitions, when 
used in these Terms and Conditions or in this Contract and its Schedules, shall be construed to 
have the following meanings: 

I. ""103m),' 
means one thousand ( 1000) cubic metres of Gas. 

') HAct and Regulations" means all relevant legislation or regulations applicable to the 
Services including but not limited to the following Ontario Acts: Ontario Energy 
Board Act 1988, Public Utilities Act, Energy Act, Municipal Franchises Act, Electricity and Gas Inspection Act 1981, and Electricity and Gas Inspection 
Regulations 1986. 

J. "Affiliate" means with respect to the relationship between corporations that one of 
them directly and beneficially owns voting securities representing direct and benetkial 
ownership of not less than fifty-one percent (SIt}:) of the equity capital of the other. 

...J.. ""Average Heat Value" means the average forecasted heating value of all Gas to be 
received by Union for the applicable Delivery Area for the applicable period. 

5. "Authorization Notice" means the \vritten approval prm ided by Union in response to 
Customer's request for a short-term amendment to certain contract parameters. Such 
Authorization Notice shall specify the approved amended parameters and the term for 
the amendment. 

6. "Business Day" means any day upon which Union:" head office in Chatham, Ontario, is normally open for business. 
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ì. "Bundled Senice" means a Service provided by Union under the Bundkd T and Gas 
Distribution Contract \\ ithout daily Nominations at the Consumption Point. 

8. "Bundled T" means the contract \\ ith Union under which Customer receives Receipt 

Services. 

9. "Compressor Fuel" means an amount of Gas specified by Transporter to be supplied 
by a shipper as a fuel source for Transporter's pipeline compressors. 

10. "Construction" means constructing, maintaining, removing, operating and/or 
repairing Union's t~H.:ilities for the purpose of commencing, maintaining, or 
discontinuing deliveries of Gas to Customer. 

II. "Contract Demand" ("CD") means the maximum volume or quantity of Gas that 
Union is obliged to deliver in anyone day to a Customer under all Services or, if the 

context so requires, a particular Service at the Consumption Point. 

1.2. "Contract Year" means a period of twelve (1.2) consecutive Months beginning on the 
day of First Delivery and each anniversary date thereafter unless mutually agreed 
otherwise. 

13. "Cubic Metre" ("m1,,) means the volume of Gas which occupies one cubic metre 
when such Gas is at a temperature of 15 degrees Celsius, and at an absolute pressure 
of to 1.325 kilopascals. 

14. hDay" means a period of twenty-four C:!4) consecutive hours beginning at 10:00 a.m. 
in the Eastern Time Zone. The reference date for any day shall be the calendar date 
upon which the t\\lenty-four (.24) hour period shall commence. 

15. "Daily Contract Quantity" ("DCQ") means the sum of the Firm Entitlements. 

16. "Day of First Delivery" means the date the Service, obligations, terms and conditions 
of the Gas Distribution Contract commence, as set out in its Schedule 1. 

17. "Day of First Receipt" means the date the Service, obligations, terms and conditions 
of the Bundled T commence, as set out in its Schedule I. 

18. "Delivery Services" means the transportation Services of Gas by Union to Storage or 
the Consumption Points. 

19. "Distribution Services" means any Services that provide for the Storage or Delivery 
of Gas. 

.20. "End User" means the ultimate user of the Gas in Union's franchise area. 

.21. "Failure to Deliver" means the circumstance where Customer is Obligated to deliver 
a quantity of Gas to Union, and all or a portion of the said quantity is not received by 
Union at the Points of Receipt. 
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22. "Firm" m~ans any Gas service not subject to intelTuption or curtailm~nt except under 
sections titled Force Majeure; Service Curtailment; and Priority of Service of these 
Terms and Conditions. 

23. "Firm Entitlements" means the l/uantity of Gas as set out in Schedule I, which 
Customer will nominate and deliver to Union and Union shall, receive at each Receipt 
Point. 

2-1-. ""'T Toll" means the transportation toll and all other applicable costs in effect for such day on the applicable Transporters system for tirm transportation service calculated at 
100C{- load tU.:tor. 

25. "Gas" means Gas as defined in the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, as amended, supplemented or re-enacted tì'om time to time, which may be commingled supplies. 

26. hGas Distribution Contract" means a written Contract, (or the unwritten Contract 
for General Service), to provide Services to the Consumption Point of End User. 

27. "Gas Marketers License" means the license rel/uired to calTY on business as a Gas 
marketer as set out in the Part IV of the Ontario Energy Board Act 1998. 

28. "Interruptible" means any gas services subject to interruption, after being notitied by 
Union. 

29. hlnterest" means the minimum commercial lending rate of Union's principal banker 
for the relevant period, 

30. "Joule" (1) means the work done when the point of application of a force of one (I) 
newton is displaced a distance of one ( I ) metre in the direction of the force. The term "Megajoule" (MJ) shall mean 1.000,000 Joules. The term "gigajoule" (GJ) shall mean 
1.000,000,000 Joules. 

31. "Manitoba, \Vestern, Northern, Sault Ste. Marie. Central, and Eastern Delivery 
Areas" means the receipt zones of Union which are detined as the delivery zones of TCPL for service under its applicable toll s<.:hedules. 

32. "Month" means a period beginning at 10:00 a.m. (Eastern Clock Time) on the first day of the <.:alendar month and ending at the same hour on the first day of the next su<.:ceeding calendar month. 

33. "Nomination" means a request to Union for a Gas Service 111 accordance with 
Union's nomination provisions. 

3-1-. "Non-Obligated" means any quantities of Gas that arc not committed to be delivered by Customer and received by Union on a Firm basis. 

35. "Obligated" means that volume of Gas which Customer is Obligated to deliver to 
Union on a Firm basis at the Points of Receipt. 
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36. "OEB" means the Ontario Energy Board. 

37. "Points of Consumption" or "Consumption Points" means, unless otherwise 
specitied in this Contract, the outlet side of the Union measuring equipment located at 

Customer's or End User locations as specified in Schedule I or Schedule 3. as 

applicable. 

38. "Price Point Values" means the amount specified by the Agent for Services listed in 

the Unionline Price Point Cross Reference Report as pernlitted by the Gas Services 
Agreement. 

39. "Rate Schedule" means the Ontario Energy Board approved Rate Slhedule 
applicable to the Service being provided, (including Sl:hedules attached thereto), or 
such other replacement Rate Schedule as approved by the Ontario Energy Board from 
time to time. 

40. "Receipt Services" means the approved receipt of Gas from Customer to Union at the 

Points of Receipt. 

41. "Receipt Point" or "Points of Receipt" shall mean the points listed on Schedule I of 
the Bundled T where Union may receive Gas from Customer. 

-J.2. "Seasonal" means any Gas service that is available during a specified period of the 

Year, 

43. "Services" means Gas Receipt, Delivery and Storage Services provided by Union. 

-J.4. "Stand Alone Fees" means the amount specitìed by the Agent for. other Services 
listed in Unionline Price Point Cross Reference Report, excluding Price Point Values, 
as permitted by the Gas Services Agreement. 

45. "Storage Services" means the spat:e and deliverability servIce for storage, either 
Bundled or Unbundled Service. 

46. "Surviving Obligations" means those Surviving Obligations set out in Set:tion 12.12 
of the General Terms and Conditions. 

47. "TCPL" means TransCanada Pipelines Limited. 

48. "TCPL Delivery Zone" means one of "l\lanitoba, Western, Northern, Sault Ste. 
Marie, Central, and Eastern Delivery Areas," or other such applicable areas created by 
TCPL. 

49. "Transporter" means the Gas transmission company that transpol1s the Gas to the 
Receipt Point. 

50. "Unbundled Service" means a Sen ice provided by Union under which Customer 
\1, ill nominate and balance daily for Receipt, Storage and Delhery Services. 
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51. "{'nionlinc" means Union's electronic web based system for Customer and Union to interal.:t electronically, including but not limited to Nominating and information 
exchange. 

52. ""Vhen Available" means any inten'uptible Gas service that is available based on Union's 0,;0 Ie disl..'retion after Firm and Interruptible services have been exhausted and is prked at the interruptible rate in the applicable Rate Schedule. 

53. ""Vestern" means the points of receipt on the TC'PL system where Union is aole to receive Gas. 

54. "Year" means a period of 365 days: provided, however, that any sUl'h Year, whkh contains a date of February 29, shall consist of 366 days. 
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Statement of Qualifications 
J. Patricia Elliott 

 
Experience: Union Gas Limited  
 

Controller, Union Gas 
  2008 
 
Director, Accounting and Internal Controls 
  2007 
 
Director, Accounting 
  2002 
 
Controller 
  1999 
 
Manager, Financial Planning 
  1997 
 
Manager, Rates and Cost of Service 
  1995 

 
Manager, Rate Design and Cost of Service 
  1989 

 
Supervisor, Cost of Service Studies 
  1987 

 
Supervisor, Plant Accounting 
  1985 
 
Supervisor, Accounting Systems 
  1983 

 
Senior EDP Auditor 
  1981 

 
Clarkson Gordon - London 
  1977 

 
Education: Chartered Accountant - 1981 
 

Bachelor of Mathematics 
  University of Waterloo - 1980 

 



Memberships: Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario 
 
Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants  

 
Appearances: (Ontario Energy Board) 
 EB-2007-0598 
 EB-2005-0211 
 EB-2005-0520 
 RP-2003-0063 
 RP-2002-0130 

RP-1999-0017 
E.B.R.O. 499 
E.B.R.O. 493/494 
E.B.R.O. 486-04 
E.B.R.O. 486-03 
E.B.R.O. 486-02 
E.B.R.O. 486 
E.B.L.O. 246 
E.B.R.O. 476-06 
E.B.R.O. 476-05 
E.B.R.O. 476-03 
E.B.R.O. 476-02 
E.B.R.O. 478 
E.B.R.O. 476-01 
E.B.R.O. 470 
E.B.R.O. 462 
E.B.R.O. 412-III 
E.B.L.O. 230 
E.B.L.O. 234 

 



Statement of Qualifications 
David MacEacheron 

 
Experience:  Union Gas Limited 
 
   Strategic Manager, Industrial Markets 
     2002 
 
   Strategic Manager, Retail Energy Markets 
     1998-2002 
 
   Manager, NGV Business Unit 
     1996-1998 
 
   Manager, NGV Business Development 
     1993-1996 
 
   Manager, NGV Operations 
     1991-1993 
 
   Sales Manager, Brantford Division 
     1989-1991 
 
   Manager, Major Gas Sales 
     1986-1989 
 
   Supervisor, Commercial Industrial Sales – Hamilton 
     1983-1986 
 
   Distribution Planning Engineer & Station Engineer 
     1979-1983 
 
Education:  Civil Engineering, BSc, University of New Brunswick 
    1979 
 
Associations:  Professional Engineer PEO 
 
Appearances:  (Ontario Energy Board) 
   EB-2007-0725 
 


